FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/28/2022 4:02 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/1/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100694-2</u> Court of Appeals No. 81109-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANNA KASPAROVA,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jessica Wolfe Attorney for Anna Kasparova

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Anna was 21 years old when she was arrested for her alleged role as an accomplice to a robbery that turned deadly.

However, Anna – who was pregnant at the time and had no criminal history – had an IQ of 74 and was "mentally a child."

Thus Anna's "brain age" was much lower than her actual age.

Despite this, the sentencing court found it had no discretion to impose a mitigated sentence and gave Anna 25 years in prison: a 20-year mandatory minimum sentence for the offense of felony murder, plus five additional years for her codefendant's use of a firearm.

This Court should take review to decide if intellectual disability, like youth, constitutionally requires a sentencing court to consider if a mandatory sentence is disproportionate to the crime.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Anna Kasparova asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Kasparova*, No. 81109-6-I pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. As this Court recognized in *Monschke*, ¹ the concept of youth as a "mitigating quality" is an extension of case law acknowledging the reduced culpability of people with intellectual disabilities. Here, Anna was 21 years old at the time of the crime, but had an IQ of 74 and was "mentally a child." This Court should take review to clarify that intellectual disability, like youth, is a mitigating quality that constitutionally requires a sentencing court to craft an appropriate sentence regardless of legislative mandates. In the alternative, this Court should take review to extend *Monschke's* grant of sentencing discretion to 21-year-olds.²

¹ In re Monschke, 97 Wn.2d 305, 306, 482 P.3d 276 (2021).

² The issue of whether *Monschke* extends to 21-year-olds is currently before this Court in *In re Davis*, No. 98340-2 (argued

2. A court must consider an exceptional concurrent sentence if it finds a permissible basis to do so, even when the SRA appears to require consecutive punishment. Here, firearm enhancements "shall" run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions "[n]otwithstanding any other law." RCW 9.94A.533(3). However, the SRA does not preclude a court from imposing an exceptional concurrent sentence in cases involving firearm enhancements. Although this Court held otherwise in *Brown*, ³ following this Court's decisions in Mulholland⁴ and McFarland,⁵ it is "untenable" to continue to deny sentencing courts the discretion to run firearm enhancements concurrently to other sentencing provisions This Court should reconsider *Brown* and hold sentencing courts have

_

Feb. 24, 2022). However, *Davis* is a personal restraint petition, whereas the instant petition is a direct appeal, and is thus in a different procedural posture.

³ State v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 20, 983 P.2d 608 (1999).

⁴ In re Mulholland, 161 Wn.2d 322, 166 P.3d 677 (2007).

⁵ State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47, 54, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017).

⁶ State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 38, 391 P.3d 409 (2017) (Madsen, J., concurring).

the discretion to run a firearm enhancement concurrently as an exceptional sentence.

- 3. CrR 4.4(c)(1) requires a court to sever the trials of defendants when a joint trial would expose one defendant to the incriminating but inadmissible statements of a codefendant. Here, Anna's co-defendant, Abel Linares-Montejo, made several out-of-court confessions implicating Anna in a robbery that led to a death. These incriminating statements were inadmissible against Anna under the rules of evidence and the Confrontation Clause. Despite this, the court refused to sever the trials, erroneously concluding the hearsay statements, taken as a whole, were "statements against interest." At trial, almost all of the State's case against Anna was Abel's inadmissible statements.
- a. This Court should clarify that severance is *mandatory* under CrR 4.4(c)(1) when the State seeks to introduce the statement of one codefendant that is inadmissible against the other.

b. This Court should clarify that trial courts must apply a line-by-line approach in analyzing "statements against interest" under ER 804(b)(3), admitting only those statements that are "truly-self inculpatory," as required by the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Williamson*⁷ and this Court's decision in *Roberts*.⁸

c. This Court should reconsider the plurality decision in *Wilcoxon*⁹ and hold that, consistent with *Bruton*, ¹⁰ hearsay that is inadmissible against a codefendant under the rules of evidence violates the Confrontation Clause when it is put before the jury in a joint trial.

4. The Sixth Amendment right to confrontation includes the right to cross-examine witnesses about possible biases or ulterior motives. Here, the State's star witness, Jesus Perez-

⁷ Williamson v. United States, 512 U.S. 594, 114 S. Ct. 2431, 129 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1994).

⁸ State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 14 P.3d 713 (2000).

⁹ State v. Wilcoxon, 185 Wn.2d 324, 373 P.3d 224 (2016).

¹⁰ *United States v. Bruton*, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S. Ct. 1620, 20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968).

Arellano, told detectives Abel confessed to the shooting and implicated Anna. Immediately prior to this revelation, the police released Jesus from jail in a separate theft case after he claimed it was Abel, not him, who stole a television. At trial, Jesus' testimony was the *only* evidence that implicated Anna by name, but the court prevented her from cross-examining Jesus about the theft charges. This Court should accept review to determine whether this limit on Anna's right to confrontation requires a new trial.

5. A search warrant must rest on probable cause.

Probable cause exists only if the affidavit articulates facts and circumstances that raise a reasonable inference the defendant is probably involved in criminal activity and evidence of the crime can be found at the place to be searched. Here, the trial court issued a search warrant for Anna's Facebook account, including her private messages, based on an affidavit that alleged no connection between Anna's Facebook account and the shooting. This Court should clarify that a suspect's mere

use of social media – absent a nexus to criminal activity – does not establish probable cause for a search.

6. Prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct deprives a defendant of their constitutional right to a fair trial in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. Here, the prosecutor referred in his rebuttal argument to evidence excluded at trial that erroneously suggested Anna looked for a gun the day before the shooting. The prosecutor also vouched for key witnesses' credibility by asking if they had been "truthful" and made prohibited statements in closing argument. Given the numerous cases from this Court and the Court of Appeals decrying the prosecutor's conduct in this case, review is warranted to reaffirm this misconduct has no place in a fair trial.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A detailed statement of the case is set out in the opening brief before the Court of Appeals. Brief of Appellant at 8–25. Below is a more concise summary.

In 2017, Anna was 21 years old and lived with her mother and 18-month-old son. CP 283, 303, 319. Anna endured a violent childhood and worked hard to build a future for herself. CP 288, 303; Pretrial Ex. 2 at 4-5. She had no criminal history. CP 276.

Anna suffers from significant intellectual disabilities. She has an IQ score of 74, rendering her less functionally mature than other people her age. CP 288, 300-301, 304.

Anna met Edixon "Eddie" Velasquez in the spring of 2017, and they had a brief, on-and-off romantic relationship.

Pretrial Ex. 2 at 3-4, 10. Later that year, Anna began dating Abel Linares-Montejo. 2RP 775-76; 2RP 776-77, 1140.

1. While helping Anna park her car, Eddie is shot by an unidentified man.

In the fall of 2017, Eddie sent Anna a message via Instagram. Ex. 43 at 130; RP 1317. Anna responded with flirtatious advances, and Eddie invited her over. RP 1317-18, 1320, 1325-26.

Anna had never been to Eddie's house before and drove past it. 2RP 518, 1322. Witnesses later testified she was tailed by several Latino men in a black Jetta. 2RP 519-20, 540, 547, 2RP 661. Anna told Eddie via Instagram that she was having trouble finding his house, then asked him to come outside to help park her car. RP 1328. 2RP 1329-30.

A neighbor's surveillance camera captured what happened next. 2RP 635-37. Anna stopped her car in front of Eddie's house. Ex. 11 at 4:10. Several minutes later, Eddie came out of his house to the driver's side of Anna's car. *Id.* at

8:05. Eddie and Anna traded places, with Eddie getting into the driver's seat of the car. *Id.* at 8:10. Anna then crossed the street and stood next to a parked car. *Id.* at 8:20.

An unidentified man approached Anna's car and pulled Eddie out, there was a brief tussle, the man shot Eddie, and Eddie fell to the ground. *Id.* at 8:35. The shooter ran down the street, past Anna and out of view. *Id.* at 8:45. Anna initially moved towards Eddie, then got into her car and drove off. *Id.* at 8:50. Eddie died at the scene. 2RP 898; 918-19.

2. Abel allegedly confesses to his friends Jesus and Alondra that he shot Eddie.

On the night in question, Jesus Perez-Arellano claimed he was with several friends and his cousin, Alondra Servin.

2RP 1140-41. According to Jesus, they got a call from Abel saying "some shit went down" and that he needed a ride. 2RP 1135, 1142.

After they picked him up, Jesus claimed Abel confessed to killing someone. 2RP 1144, 1146. According to Jesus, Abel

said he went to "pull a lick" – which Jesus described as a robbery or a theft – but ended up shooting a man. 2RP 1146-48, 1153, 1180, 1188. Jesus also claimed Abel planned the robbery with Anna. 2RP 1146–47.

The next morning, Jesus and Abel went to the house of Jesus's cousin, Alondra, who lived in the same trailer park as Jesus. 2RP 1204, 1144. Alondra claimed Abel confessed to her that he shot somebody he only meant to rob. 2RP 1206-1207. According to Alondra, Abel also said there was an unnamed girl involved. 2RP 1209.

3. Abel is arrested with Jesus and Alondra, who give inconsistent statements about their knowledge of the shooting.

A few weeks after the shooting, police arrested Jesus after someone accused him and Abel of stealing their television. Ex. 48 at 17–20; Ex. 10 at 10–11; 1RP 139. However, Jesus

was released from jail after he pinned the blame on Abel. 1RP 139–40.

The next day, police arrested Abel at Jesus' home. 2RP 931-32, 1165. Jesus and Alondra were present and ordered out of the house at gunpoint. 2RP 932, 1165. Jesus and Alondra both initially claimed they didn't know anything about the shooting. 2RP 1264–65. After detectives told them they could serve time in prison as accomplices, both Jesus and Alondra implicated Abel in the shooting. 2RP 1173, 1215; Ex. 46 at 9-28, Ex. 47 at 4–19; Ex. 48 at 17–20. Although Jesus and Alondra could not give consistent answers about where they were the night of the shooting, the police never verified their alibis. 2RP 1177, 1218, 1344–47.

At trial, Jesus first testified that it was Abel's plan to "pull a lick." He changed his testimony, however, after the

prosecutor pressured him to say that *Anna* wanted to rob Eddie. 2RP 1150–51.

Jesus also initially testified that Abel asked him to "hit this same lick" with him, and that Anna was not present for that conversation. 2RP 1156. However, again after pressure from the prosecutor, he said he overheard Abel and Anna planning a lick together. 2RP 1157–59. He later testified that Anna was never around when he discussed the lick with Abel. 2RP 1181.

Jesus said a man named "Oscar" was at the scene of the shooting and went up to Eddie's body and saw him "gasping and choking" on the ground. 2RP 1188. He then claimed "Oscar" got into a black Jetta – the same car other witnesses observed tailing Anna – and fled the scene. 2RP 1189. When questioned about the discrepancies in his testimony, Jesus

became defensive and denied any involvement in the "lick." 2RP 1180-81.

4. Anna and Abel are jointly tried and convicted of felony murder and Anna is sentenced to 300 months.

The State initially charged Anna with premeditated murder in the first degree, then added an alternative count of felony murder based on robbery in the second degree. CP 1, 151. Anna gave birth to her second son while in jail. CP 319-20. She had just one day with him and was never allowed to hold him after that. RP 320.

The State charged Anna and Abel together. CP 151.

Before trial, Anna moved to sever on the basis that Abel's confessions to Jesus and Alondra were not admissible against her. CP 15-19. Anna also moved to question Jesus about his arrest for the theft he and Abel committed. CP 162–63; 1RP 139–42. The court denied both motions. 2RP 19, 43–44.

At trial, the jury heard Jesus and Alondra's testimony that Abel confessed to them and implicated Anna. 2RP 1146–

47, 1150–51, 1209. This was the *only* evidence introduced at trial that directly incriminated Anna.

The jury found Anna guilty of felony murder under an accomplice theory. CP 227-28. Following their verdict, jurors told the attorneys that they believed "Oscar" – *not* Abel – was the shooter. Supp. CP __ (Sub. No. 99¹¹).

At sentencing, Anna faced a standard range sentence of 300 to 380 months, including a 60 month firearm enhancement. CP 275. Based on her intellectual deficiencies, including her low IQ and youth, Anna asked for a mitigated sentence of 183 months. CP 276; 1RP 174–79.

The court rejected the request for an exceptional sentence, finding it had no authority to impose such a sentence. 1RP 214–15. The court imposed the minimum sentence of 300 months, or 25 years. CP 339; 1RP 215.

¹¹ This information only found in a filing in the docket for Abel's case.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Intellectual disability, like youth, constitutionally requires a sentencing court to consider whether a mandatory sentence is disproportionate to the crime.

Punishment must fit the crime. Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 367, 30 S. Ct. 544, 54 L. Ed. 793 (1910); State v. Bassett, 192 Wn.2d 67, 91, P.3d 343 (2018); U.S. Const. amend. XIII; Const. art. I, § 14. Because late adolescents are less culpable for the crimes they commit, this Court recently held defendants "at least as old" as 20 are not subject to mandatory sentences. *In re Monschke*, 197 Wn.2d 305, 306, 482 P.3d 276 (2021). As *Monschke* recognized, the concept of youth as a "mitigating quality" is rooted in U.S. Supreme Court cases acknowledging the reduced culpability of people with intellectual disabilities. *Id.* at 282 (citing *Hall v. Florida*, 572) U.S. 701, 134 S. Ct. 1986, 188 L. Ed. 2d 1007 (2014); Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S. Ct. 2242, 15 L. Ed. 2d 335 (2002)). And yet, this Court has never extended the same

sentencing discretion for people with intellectual disabilities as it has for youth.

This case presents this Court with the opportunity to bring its jurisprudence full circle to where individualized sentencing first began: with intellectual disability.

Anna was 21 years old at the time of the crime, putting her within the class of "late adolescents" contemplated by this Court's grant of review in *In re Davis*, No. 98340-2 (argued Feb. 24, 2022). ¹² If this Court recognizes *Monschke* applies to 21-year-old defendants, Anna should receive resentencing based on her age. However, regardless of her chronological age, Anna was *mentally* a child, with an IQ of 74 and the functional intelligence of a middle schooler. Thus there is "no

¹² On January 4, 2021, this Court stayed the petition for review in Ms. Kasparova's co-defendant's case, *State v. Linares-Montejo*, No. 100189-4, pending the final decision in *Davis*. *Linares-Montejo* raises several of the same sentencing issues as the instant petition.

meaningful neurological bright line" between Anna and the 19and 20-year-old petitioners in *Monschke*. 197 Wn.2d at 325.

This Court should take review because intellectual disability, like youth, is a mitigating quality that constitutionally requires a sentencing court to craft an appropriate sentence regardless of legislative mandates. In the alternative, this Court should take review because *Monschke's* grant of sentencing discretion must apply to 21-year-olds.

a. The recognition that youth are less culpable is rooted in U.S. Supreme Court case law acknowledging the reduced culpability of people with intellectual disabilities.

In *Roper v. Simmons*, the Supreme Court held it was unconstitutional to impose the death penalty on children. 543 U.S. 551, 569–70, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005). In doing so, the Court relied on its earlier decision in *Atkins v*. *Virginia*, which held executing people with intellectual disabilities unconstitutional. 536 U.S. 304, 122 S. Ct. 2242, 153 L. Ed. 2d 335 (2002). *Atkins* acknowledged people with

intellectual disabilities are deficient in "areas of reasoning, judgment, and control of their impulses," and thus "do not act with the same level of moral culpability that characterizes the most serious adult criminal conduct." *Id.* at 306. Together, *Atkins* and *Roper* recognized that imposing the most severe penalties on defendants with diminished culpability serves no legitimate penological goals and is thus unconstitutionally disproportionate. *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 571 (citing *Atkins*).

The Supreme Court later extended the reasoning of *Roper* to prohibit mandatory life without parole for children. *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d825 (2010); *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). The Court's analysis continued to draw on the lessons of *Atkins*, premising its holdings on the principle that punishment must be proportional to culpability. *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 71 (citing *Atkins*); *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 470 (citing *Atkins*). Because children are "less culpable," a sentencing court must have discretion to choose an

appropriate punishment regardless of mandatory sentences set by the legislature. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 474.

b. This Court has expanded sentencing discretion for youth based on reduced culpability but has never extended the same discretion for people with intellectual disabilities.

In *State v. O'Dell*, this Court held that youth is a mitigating factor even when the defendant is over the age of 18, because the "parts of the brain involved in behavior and control continue to develop well into a person's 20s." *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 692, 696, 358 P.3d 359 (2015) (citation and quotation marks omitted). Although it did not cite a constitutional basis, *O'Dell* relied on the reasoning of the U.S. Supreme Court's Eighth Amendment decisions in *Roper*, *Graham*, and *Miller*. *Id.* at 695. The *O'Dell* Court determined these cases "establish a clear connection between youth and decreased moral culpability for criminal conduct," even for those defendants over the age of 18 years. *Id*.

In *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, this Court held that the Eighth Amendment not only permits, but *requires* sentencing courts to consider the mitigating qualities of youth when sentencing children. *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 18, 391 P.3d 409 (2017). *Houston-Sconiers* concerned two children sentenced in adult court for several felonies and mandatory firearm enhancements. *Id.* at 12. The sentencing court imposed sentences of 31 and 26 years, concluding it had no discretion to go lower. *Id.* at 12–13.

This Court disagreed. *Id.* at 21. Again citing *Miller*, *Graham*, and *Roper*, this Court held that sentencing courts may "to impose *any* sentence below the otherwise applicable SRA range and/or sentence enhancements" based on youth. *Id.* at 20-21 (emphasis added); *see also State v. Gilbert*, 193 Wn.2d 169, 175-76, 438 P.3d 133 (2019) (*Houston-Sconiers* calls into doubt "*any* statute that acts to limit consideration of the mitigating factors of youth").

Most recently, this Court extended the promise of "individualized sentencing" to older adolescents in *Monschke*, concluding there is "no meaningful neurological bright line" between 17-year-olds and 18-to-20 year olds. *Monschke*, 197 Wn.2d at 325. In doing so, this Court relied on *Atkins*, as well as the U.S. Supreme Court decision in *Hall v. Florida*, which rejected a "bright line" IQ cutoff for death penalty eligibility for people with intellectual disabilities. *Hall*, 572 U.S. 701.

Monschke relied on Hall to compare youth to intellectual disability, concluding "[j]ust as an individual's intellectual functioning cannot be reduced to a single numerical score, neither can an individual's level of maturity." 197 Wn.2d at 325. In light of this principle, Monschke embraced "individualized sentencing" for defendants "at least as old" as 20, leaving it up to sentencing courts "to determine which individual defendants merit leniency for these characteristics" of youth. Id. at 306, 326–28.

Here, Anna's chronological age of 21 years put her within the youthful range contemplated by case law as mitigator. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 692; *Monschke*, 197 Wn.2d at 325. Because brain development continues "well into a person's 20s," this Court should extend "individualized sentencing" to 21-year-olds like Anna. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 692; *Monschke*, 197 Wn.2d at 326–28.

However, Anna's culpability was mitigated by more than her youthfulness. Her intellectual functioning is much lower than her chronological age. With an IQ of 74 and the academic capacity of a middle schooler, Anna has "deficient intellectual abilities" "[i]ntersecting with and amplifying the limitations associated with her youthfulness." CP 300. As summarized by an expert, "Anna's functional maturity, decisional capacity, relationships, and moral sensibilities were adversely impacted by her youthfulness, deficient intelligence, family dysfunction, and childhood trauma exposures." CP 288. As her attorney put it, Anna "is mentally a child." 1RP 179.

Monschke recognized that there is no meaningful neurological distinction between 17-year-olds and 20-year-olds. Because of Anna's intellectual disability, there is similarly no meaningful neurological distinction between her and the child petitioners in Miller and Houston-Sconiers. The U.S. Supreme Court recognized as much in Roper when it equated the diminished culpability of youth with that of people with intellectual disabilities. This Court should take review to clarify that intellectual disability is a mitigating quality that constitutionally requires a court to impose a proportional sentence despite the mandatory sentence set by the legislature.

2. This Court should reconsider *Brown* in light of its decisions in *Mulholland* and *McFarland* extending the discretion of lower courts to impose exceptional sentences.

The purpose of the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) is to "[e]nsure that the punishment for a criminal offense is *proportionate* to the seriousness of the offense and the offender's criminal history," to provide "just" punishment,

protect the public and reduce the risk of recidivism, while still making "[f]rugal use of the state's and local governments' resources." RCW 9.94A.010. In line with these purposes, a court "may impose a sentence outside the standard range for an offense if it finds . . . that there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence." RCW 9.94A.535.

The SRA only contains one explicit categorical bar to an exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.535: a conviction for those offenses listed under RCW 9.94A.540(1). Notably, RCW 9.94A.540(1) does not list firearm enhancements.

Sentencing courts have the discretion to impose a mitigated exceptional sentence even where the SRA appears to require a consecutive punishment. For example, the SRA provides that sentences for "serious violent offenses" "shall be served consecutively to each other." RCW 9.94A.589(1). However, in *In re Mulholland*, this Court determined that under the "plain language" of RCW 9.94A.535, a mitigated concurrent sentence was still available when the defendant was

convicted of multiple serious violent offenses. *In re Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 329-30, 166 P.3d 677 (2007).

RCW 9.41.040(6) similarly states that defendants "shall serve consecutive sentences for each of the felony crimes of conviction listed," including theft of a firearm, possession of a stolen firearm, or unlawful possession of a firearm in the first or second degree. *See also* RCW 9.94A.589(1)(c) (if a defendant is convicted under RCW 9.41.040(6), they "shall serve consecutive sentences for each conviction . . . and for each firearm unlawfully possessed."). However, in *State v*. *McFarland*, this Court noted there is "nothing in the SRA precluding concurrent exceptional sentences for firearm-related convictions." *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d 47, 54, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017).

The *McFarland* Court so held even in light of legislative intent to "increase[] penalties for armed crimes" and statutory language requiring consecutive sentences "[n]otwithstanding any other law." *Id.* at 54; RCW 9.41.040(6). The Court

"preclude exceptional sentences downward." McFarland, 189
Wn.2d at 54 (emphasis added). Accordingly, if consecutive sentences for multiple firearm-related convictions "result[] in a presumptive sentence that is clearly excessive in light of the purpose of [the SRA]," a sentence court has the discretion to run the sentences concurrently. Id. at 55.

Here, Anna received a 60 month firearm enhancement under RCW 9.94A.533(3)(a). CP 337, 339. Pursuant to this statute, "[n]otwithstanding any other provision of law, all firearm enhancements under this section are mandatory, shall be served in total confinement, and shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, including other firearm or deadly weapon enhancements."

Like the statutes addressed by *Mulholland* and *McFarland*, RCW 9.94A.533(3) contains no categorical bar on an exceptional sentence. And like the statute in *McFarland*, RCW 9.94A.533 requires a mandatory consecutive sentence

"[n]otwithstanding any other law." Although the legislature intended to impose harsher penalties for armed crime, the statute does not preclude an exceptional sentence if the presumptive sentence is excessive in light of the purposes of the SRA. *See McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 54.

Thirty years ago, this Court parsed the nearly identical language of the deadly weapon enhancement statute in *State v*. *Brown* and came to the opposite conclusion, holding "judicial discretion to impose an exceptional sentence does not extend to a deadly weapon enhancement." *Brown*, 139 Wn.2d 20, 29, 983 P.2d 608 (1999). However, *Mulholland* and *McFarland* undercut *Brown*'s reasoning. Justice Madsen remarked on *Brown*'s eroded basis after *Mulholland* and before *McFarland*:

Recognizing that sentencing courts have the discretion to modify firearm enhancements when imposing an exceptional sentence would align these cases with the rest of our sentencing jurisprudence. In [Mulholland], we found that sentencing courts have the discretion to impose an exceptional sentence – by running the sentences concurrently – for multiple serious violent offenses In the 18 years since Brown, we have continued to develop our sentencing jurisprudence by

allowing courts to exercise the discretion given to them by the legislature when they are imposing exceptional sentences. Continuing to deny sentencing courts such discretion in cases involving firearm enhancements is untenable.

Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 38 (Madsen, J., concurring). Review is warranted to reconsider whether *Brown* remains good law in light of subsequent developments in this Court's sentencing jurisprudence.

3. Severance of defendants is mandatory when a joint trial exposes one defendant to the inadmissible statements of a codefendant.

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