FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/29/2022 9:32 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 100694-2 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANNA KASPAROVA,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Anna Kasparova, was convicted after a jury trial of first degree felony murder with a firearm enhancement for the killing of Edixon Velasquez on September 19, 2017. RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c)), RCW 9.94A.533(3)); CP

223, 226, 252; 2RP 1549-50.² The relevant facts are set forth in the State's briefing before the Court of Appeals. Brief of Respondent at 4-14. The court imposed a standard range sentence. CP 336-41.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions and sentence in a unanimous unpublished opinion. State v. Kasparova, 81109-6-I (Wash. Ct. App. November 15, 2021) (unpublished).

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The State's briefing at the Court of Appeals adequately responds to the issues raised by Kasparova in her petition for review. If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of alternative arguments it raised in the Court of Appeals. RAP

consecutively paginated volumes for February 7-8, 2018,

February 8, April 5, May 17, August 19, and October 22, 2019, January 24, 2020, and February 7, 2020; 2RP – the consecutively paginated volumes for October 23, 2019, through

December 5, 2019.

² The State has adopted the method of referring to the Report of Proceedings used by the appellant, as follows: 1RP – the

13.4(d). The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review. However, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, if review is granted it should include review of the alternative arguments raised by the State in the Court of Appeals. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.7(b). Those arguments are summarized below and set forth more fully in the briefing in the Court of Appeals.

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PROHIBITED CROSS EXAMINATION OF PEREZ ABOUT AN UNRELATED INCIDENT.

Kasparova claims that the trial court deprived her of her right to confront witness Jesus Perez Arellano (Perez) with evidence of alleged bias against codefendant Linares when it refused to allow her to cross-examine Perez about an alleged theft that he committed with Linares. The Court of Appeals found that the trial court erred, but the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Kasparova</u>, slip op. at 12-17. While the Court of Appeals was correct that any error was

harmless, as alternative grounds to affirm, the State renews its arguments that this claim was not preserved in the trial court and that the evidence was properly excluded.

a. Relevant Facts.

The trial court was informed that on October 2, 2017, about two weeks after the murder of Edixon Velasquez, witness Perez and codefendant Linares were arrested by Auburn police for theft. CP 162. They were both charged and both cases were later dismissed without prejudice. CP 162. Defense counsel said that the police believed Perez distracted the victim while Linares accomplished the theft. 1RP 139-40. According to defense counsel, Perez blamed Linares and denied any knowledge of the theft. 1RP 140. Counsel argued that evidence relating to the incident showed Perez's bias because he would want to make Linares look bad in case that misdemeanor theft case ever was litigated and Linares became a witness, although that misdemeanor theft case was beyond the

statute of limitations. 1RP 141-44; 2RP 43. Defense counsel stated that they were not suggesting that Perez was another suspect in this case. 2RP 42. The court denied the motion to allow cross-examination on that subject, concluding that the evidence was irrelevant. 2RP 43-44.

On appeal, Kasparova argues that the relevance of the prior incident is that the theft arrest occurred the day before Linares was arrested at Perez's home. App.Br. at 45. The trial court was not informed of that alleged fact. Kasparova now claims that she was not permitted to ask Perez about his arrest and release from custody the day before Linares's arrest or whether that motivated Perez to give a statement to police. App.Br. at 45-46. Kasparova never asked to be allowed to question Perez about these alleged details. Trial counsel never argued that Perez's statement to Seattle Police detectives was a result of a desire to shift blame from himself or to avoid being charged with a crime, as Kasparova claims on appeal.

For the first time in her motion for reconsideration of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Kasparova argued that the evidence she intended to use in cross-examining Perez was relevant to show bias of Alondra Servin. This argument was not made to the trial court or in any prior appellate briefing.

b. This Claim Was Not Preserved.

The facts that are the basis of this claim on appeal were not presented to the trial court and the claim should be rejected as unpreserved. The claim that the proffered evidence was relevant to bias of a different witness, Alondra Servin, was untimely raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration and should be rejected on that basis.

Generally, an appellate court will not consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); State v.

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). The policy encourages the efficient use of judicial resources, giving the trial court an opportunity to correct any error and avoid an

appeal. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). Where, as here, the facts that are the basis of the claim were not presented to the trial court, appellate courts should refuse to consider the claim. The trial court's ruling on the argument presented to it was not an abuse of discretion – the proffered evidence was irrelevant. It cannot have abused its discretion as to the facts and theory argued in this appeal because those facts and theory were not presented.

As to the claim Kasparova raised after the decision in the Court of Appeals, that this error was a confrontation violation as to Servin, defense trial counsel did not believe the evidence was relevant to alleged bias of Servin – they did not argue it was. The argument that it would have established bias of Servin should be rejected as unpreserved – it is essentially an argument that there was a confrontation violation as to Servin as well as Perez. A defendant must assert a confrontation violation in the trial court, or the right is waived. State v. Burns, 193 Wn.2d 190, 210-11, 438 P.3d 1183 (2019).

Kasparova has waived her new argument that the exclusion of evidence of the alleged theft by Linares and Perez was a confrontation violation as to witness Servin.

Moreover, the argument that Servin's testimony was tainted by the trial court's ruling precluding this crossexamination of Perez was raised for the first time in a motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals and should be rejected on that basis. New arguments are improper even in a reply brief and are entirely improper in a motion for reconsideration. See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) ("An issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration."); State v. Pervez, 15 Wn. App. 2d 265, 272, 478 P.3d 103 (2020) (argument first raised in a reply brief is too late for consideration); Samra v. Singh, 15 Wn. App. 2d 823, 834, 479 P.3d 713 (2020) (additional factual arguments raised for the first time in reply brief will not be addressed).

c. The Evidence Proffered In the Trial Court Was Irrelevant And Properly Excluded.

The right to present evidence of a witness's bias is essential to the constitutional right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974). But there is no constitutional right to present evidence that is not relevant to bias. State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 789-90, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). A defendant has no right to present irrelevant evidence through cross-examination. Id. The trial court properly denied the request to question Perez about the theft because the information proffered did not evidence that Perez had any bias in this case, in which Linares was charged with murder and there was no suggestion that Perez was involved.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice the State seeks cross-review of the issues identified in Sections C and E, supra.

This document contains 1621 words, by calculation of Word software, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 29th day of March, 2022.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

March 29, 2022 - 9:32 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 100,694-2

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Anna Valeriya Kasparova

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 1006942_Answer_Reply_20220329093140SC027799_6762.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 100694-2 - Answer to Petition for Review and Cross-Petition.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- greg@washapp.org
- jessica@washapp.org
- paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty.gov
- wapofficemai@washapp.org
- wapofficemail@washapp.org

Comments:

Sender Name: Wynne Brame - Email: wynne.brame@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Donna Lynn Wise - Email: donna.wise@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email:)

Address:

King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue

Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-9497

Note: The Filing Id is 20220329093140SC027799